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Davenport, Major J. L., Yarsop House, Manselt Lacy, Hereford.
Davies, A. L. and Mrs., Stansbach House, Staunton-on-Arrow, Leominster.
Davies, A. R., Donnybrook, Bridstow, Ross-on-Wye.
Davies, Mrs. Emily, Yulgibar, Bobblestock, Hereford.
Davies, Miss Estelle, Troy, 29, Breinton Road, Hereford.
Davies, Godfrey C., Wyeval Lid., Bridge Street, Hereford.
Davoll, F. Evan C., The Downs House, Ross-on-Wye.
Deacon, A. W., Church House, Kington, Herefordshire.
Denison, W. A. R., Ingledene, 8, Hafod Road, Hereford.
D’Esmonde, J. W., Kinnersley Castle, Hereford.
de Waal, Mrs. V. A, Ph.D., 23, Chaucer Road, Cambridge.
Dorrell, John, Tillington Fruit Farm, Hereford.
Dorrell, Mrs., Tillington Fruit Farm, Hereford.
Dodd, L. S. and Mrs,, The Grove, Weston-under-Penyard, Ross-on-Wye,

. Dudley, Prof. D. R., M.A,, Blackhill, Malvern, Worcester.
Duggan, A. L., Old Hill Court, Ross-on-Wye.
Duggan, Mrs,, Old Hill Court, Ross-on-Wye.

| Dunlop, Miss, Amncliffe, Over Ross, Ross-on-Wye.
Dunne, Miss G., The Knoll, Bircher, Leominster.
Dunk, Miss D. V., 132, Three Elms Road, Hereford.
Dunnicliff, Canon E. F. H., M.A_, The Canon’s House, Hereford.

Ealand, Gerald A., 5, St. Peter Street, Hereford.
' Edge, M. L., 33, Grey Friars Avenue, Hereford.
Ed\ya.rds, Miss M., Somerset Cottage, Little Marcle, Ledbury.
Elk'm, P. A, B., Holme Lacy, Hereford.
- Ellis, W, H., 85, Holme Lacy Road, Hereford.
1Eltone. Miss M., Hawthorne House, Duxmere, Ross-on-Wye.
Everest, A. E.,, D.Sc., Acarsaid, Church Bank, Kington, Herefordshire,
Everest, Mrs., Acarsaid, Church Bank, Kington, Herefordshire.
| Everest, Miss, Acarsaid, Church Bank, Kington, Herefordshire.

Farmer, W. G., St. Cuthberts, Hampton Park Road, Hereford
Farquh:}rson, Mrs., Le Play House, %.edbury. ’ '
Farr, Miss P. A., Orchard Place, ‘Whitney, Hereford,

Farrow, G. W. E., School House, Ledbury.




Feaster, A. L. and Mrs,, 1, Vineyard Road, Hereford.
Fisher, Dr. Hugh, Ryelands, Broomy Hill, Hereford.
Field, Mrs., 2, Clive Street, Hereford.

Fixen, 1. M., Gwynant, St. Margaret’s Road, Hereford.
Fletcher, G. H., Noakes Cottage, Pontshill, Ross-on-Wye.
Ford, R. A., Garth, 54, Venn’s Lane, Hereford.

Franklin, C., Greentrees, St. Margaret’s Road, Hereford.

Ganderton, E. W., F.S.A., Manor Close, Chislehurst, Kent.

Gardiner, Norman H., 35, Breinton Road, Hereford.

Gardner, C. S., Yatton Court, Aymestry, Leominster.

Gardner, Miss G., Yatton Court, Aymestrey, Leominster.

Carratt-Adams, Mr. and Mrs. H., Kinnersley Castle, Hereford

Genealogists, Society of, 37, Harrington Gardens, London, S.W.7.

Geological Survey and Museum, Exhibition Road, South Kensington,
London, S.W.7.

Gillespie, Lt.-Col. R. R., Peterstow House, Peterstow, Ross-on-Wye.

Gillespie, Mrs., Peterstow House, Peterstow, Ross-on-Wye.

Goss, Rev. A, ]J., St. Peter's Vicarage, Ledbury Road, Hereford.

Green, Capt. Lionel H., M.B.E., The Whittern, Lyonshall, Kington, Hereford-
shire.

Griffiths, John W. B., Birtley House, Bucknell, Salop.

Griffiths, N. R. L., The Firs, Westfields, Hereford.

Grigg, Inspector Donald, Police Station, Ross-on-Wye,

Guest, Misses W. and N., Hilltop, Dilwyn, Hereford.

Gurney, G. T., Arrow Bank, Kington, Herefordshire.

Gwillim, A. L1, Hagley Cottage, Bartestree, Herefordshire.

Gwynne, T. C., The Moors, Little Dewchurch, Hereford,

Hadfield, Miles, 39, Hamstead Hill, Birmingham, 29.

Hadfield, P. G. H., Bull's Grove, Putley, Ledbury.

Haines, F. R., Hilton, Canon Pyon Road, Hereford.

Hall, Harold, 62, Whitehorse Street, Hereford.

Hall, T. H., St. John’s House, Burghill, Hereford.

Hamilton, Miss G., Hillstow, Bank Crescent, Ledbury.
Hammond, G. T. H., Fownhope Cottage, Fownhope, Hereford.
Hancock, Miss, Cleeve Lane, Ross-on-Wye.

Harding, Mrs. B. J., Kilcot, Newent, Glos.

Harris, L. A. K., 56, Beattie Avenue, Hereford.

Harrison, Miss D., The School House, Aymestry, Leominster.
Harvey, Dr. P. G. T., Cornwall House, Monmouth.

Hastain P. and Mrs., 196, Whitecross Road, Hereford.

Heath, Mrs., Putley, Ledbury.

Herefordshire Botanical Society, 19, Cumbrae Avenue, Hereford.
Hereford City Library, Broad Street, Hereford.

Hereford County Libraries, Widemarsh Street, Hereford.
Hermon, F. R. L. and Mrs,, 92, Old Eign Hill, Hereford.
Herefordshire Ornithological Society, 243, Ledbury Road, Hereford.
Heys, F. G.,, M.A,, 28, Hinton Road, Hereford.

Heyes, Col,, Beechwood, Ross-on-Wye.

Heyes, Mrs.,, Beechwood, Ross-on-Wye.

Heyes, Miss, Beechwood, Ross-on-Wye.

Higgins, T. H., Glaslyn, Broomy Hill, Hereford.

Higham, V., Moorside, Much Birch, Hereford.

Higham, Mrs., Moorside, Much Birch, Hereford.

Hocking, F. T., 1, Bullingham Lane, Hereford.

Hoddell, Mrs. P., Burlton Court, Burghill, Hereford.

Hodgson, Miss M., Forest Gate, Callow, Hereford.

Hopldinson, Col. S, Llanvihanget Court, Llanvihangel Crucorney, Aber-

gavenny, Mon,

Hone, Miss Bertha, Corner Cottage, Chase Road, Ross-on-

Hone, Mr:, Mrs. and Miss E., Na.t?ona.l Provinciai Bank—f)L:gglflly.

Horne, Miss, Upper Bridge Court, Whitney-on-Wye, Hereford.
Hoskyns-Abrahall, Sir Chandos, Little Bogmarsh, Holme Lacy, Hereford
Howse, W. H., M.A., F.S.A,, Broadaxe Corner, Presteigne Ra.dx'lor '
Howse, Mrs. Broadaxe Corner, Presteigne, Radnor. ‘ '
Hughes, D. J., Wyatt House, Cross Keys, Hereford.

Huont, Dr. and Mrs. J. G., 2, St. John Street, Hereford.

Hutton, Prof. J. H., The Old Rectory, New Radnor, Radnor.

Inman, _S. ‘W., The.Cottage, Burghill, Hereford.
Iron, Air Commodore Douglas, Army & Navy Club, Pall Mall, S.W.1.

Jackson, Lt.-Col. E. H. P., Yew Tree House, Welli
Jackson, M.rs Yew Tree House, Wellington', Het!:flgctl).n' Hereford.
Jackson, Miss P. M., 148, St. Owen Street, Hereford.
Jackson, Lady, Hildersley Cottage, Ross-on-Wye.
Jackson, Mrs. W. H. Gidlow, The Old Grange, Dymock, Glos.
James, D. W, l?ea.nwood, Castle Hill Road, Kilmacolm, Renfrewshire
James, D. W., Glendale, 108, Bullingham Road, Hereford ’
James, E. E, 28, Moor Farm Lane, Hereford. ’ '
James, Phillip Gwynne, High Croft, Breinton, Hereford.
Jancey, Miss M., M.A., County Library, Widemarsh Street, Hereford
Jenkins, Mrs. Megan, Ladylift Villa, Almeley, Hereford. '
}gﬁmﬁ; Ié ]_].&7,‘;?/;? \gew, Almeley, Hereford.
, Col. T. W, M., Green Farm, Hallwood

Johnson, Mrs., Greqn Farm, Hallwood Green, Dﬁﬁzii ]éi;'sm(:k' Glos.
Jones, D. E., Farthing Dingle, Laysters, Herefordshire, .
Jones, Rev. G. P., Little Marcle, Ledbury.
Jones. J., Dynham Hall, Ludlow, Salop.
}gnes, ﬂrr: l\llf, 11)_77‘,5 Ross Road, Hereford.

nes, Mrs. M. U., Snowberry Cottage, Preston Wynn.
Jones, V\T Snowberry Cottage, Pgreston Wynne),’ Hsl,'elgoi-le ford.
Jones, Philip, G., Bryn Bras, Canon Pyon Road, Hereford ’
Jones, R. St. John, 12, Lichfield Avenue, Hereford. '

Kay, W., 28 Belmont Avenue, Hereford
Kemp, John, Cherrington, Réss-on-Wyé.
Kemp,. Mrs, Cherrington, Ross-on-Wye,
gendr{ck, F. M., 40, Stanhope Street, Hereford.

gndnck., Mrs., 40, Stanhope Street, Hereford.
%ﬁde'rmmster P‘ub]jg: Library, Kidderminster.
Kincald_-Lenngx, Major W. M. P., Downton Castle, Ludlow.
b g-Kgng. Miss B. M., Tupsley House, Hereford.

ing-King, Mrs., Deerfold House, Lingen, Bucknell, Salop.

Laird, Miss M., Lad i i i
, o ygrove, Birley, Dilwyn, Leo
Lane, A. C., 11a, Ferndale Roa.d,yHereford. minster.

' Langdale-Smith, Dr. H. G., Tarrington, Hereford.

Langdale-Smith, Mrs., Tarrington, Hereford.

' Langford, Dr. A. W., 5, St. John Street, Hereford.

Langford, Mrs., 5, St. John Street, Heref
l.angston, Mrs. I.’H., Sunset Hous,e Iiin'-e o i
].zt\va\;ion, Rev. J. L., 7, The Precints', C;l;%gghg?refordshue.
-:ayt C?;x, ADr Ann, Froome, Mordiford, Hereford.
.eeds M mold W., Aconbury Court, Hereford.
P Frs. F., Lynstead, Ryefield Road, Ross-on-Wye.

s, F. A., Withers Farm, Wellington Heath, Ledbury.




Lees, B., 175, Ross Road, Hereford.

The University College, Leicester.

Lewis, A. W., 16, Bodenham Road, Hereford.

Lewis, Miss Gwynnedd, 21, Heaton Drive, Birmingham, 13.
Lewis, Rev. G, O., The Vicarage, Tupsley, Hereford.

Lewis, W. ]., Clifton Villa, 14, Harold Street, Hereford.

The Librarian, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, 3.

Lloyd, David, 114, Ryelands Street, Hereford.

Lloyd, E., Three Hollies, Brilley Green, Hereford.

Lloyd, Mrs., Three Hollies, Brilley Green, Hereford.

Lloyd, G. H., 40, Park Street, Hereford.

Lloyd-Johnes, Herbert, F.8.A,, Fosse Hill, Coates, Cirencester, Glos.
Lioyd, T. G., and Mrs,, Parkfield, Weobley, Hereford.

Lock, C. B., The Garage, Allensmore, Hereford.

Lockett, E., 1, Moreland Avenue, Hereford.

Lockett, Mrs., 1, Moreland Avenue, Hereford.
Loder-Symonds, Mrs. F. P., Waldrist, Venns Lane, Hereford.
University of London Library, Senate House, London, W.C.1.

Longworth, Rt. Rev. T,, Lord Bishop of Hereford, The Palace, Hereford.

Lowe, David A., Glenview, 62, Hafod Road, Hereford.
Lucas, A. V., Crediton, Devon.

Machin, F. S., 45, Hampton Park Road, Hereford.

MacLaverty, C., Leckmelm House, Garve Ross-Shire, Scotland.
Maclean of Dochgarroch, Rev. D. A. L., The Rectory, Pixley, Ledbury.
Maclean of Dochgarroch, Allan, The Rectory, Pixley, Ledbury.
Maclean of Dochgarroch, Mrs., The Rectory, Pixley, Ledbury.
McQueen, J. A. C., 4la, Bodenham Road, Hereford.

Malkin, Dr. G. R., Mona, Fownhope, Hereford.

Malsom, C. G. W., Highfield, 10, Mount Crescent, Tupsley, Hereford.
Mann, A. L., Greenbank, 4, Penn Grove Road, Hereford.

Mann, Mrs., Greenbank, 4, Penn Grove Road, Hereford.
Marchant, C. Garnet, Heselton, 29, Barton Road, Hereford.
Matriott, C. L., 23, St. Owen Street, Hereford.

Marriott, Miss G., Cantilupe House, Cantilupe Street, Hereford.
Marriott, N., Cantilupe House, Cantilupe Street, Hereford.
Marshall, C., Breinton, Hereford.

Marshall, G. H., Breinton, Hereford.

Marshall, Major Thomas, c/o Lloyds Bank, Leominster.
Matthews, E. K. W, 4, Folly Lane, Hereford.

Matthews, J. W., Ragleth, 39, King’s Acre Road, Hereford.
Matthews, Mrs. Ragleth, 39, King's Acre Road, Hereford.
Matthews, Mrs. T. A., Mavis Holt, Hampton Park, Hereford.
Matthews, Miss M. E., Mavis Holt, Hampton Park, Hereford.
Maudesley, Rev. G. M., The Rectory, Canon Pyon, Hereford.
Meredith, Mrs. V. I, Cotterals Farm, Bridstow, Ross-on-Wye.
Meredith, C. W., Little Eastbury, Sandy Lane, Northwood, Middx.
Meredith, Mrs., Little Eastbury, Sandy Lane, Northwood, Middx.
McBean, Col. A. A., Moccas Court, Hereford.

Mess, R. H. and Mrs., Pullen Farm, Ullingswick, Hereford.

Miller, R. C., 63, Lichfield Avenue, Hereford.

Miles, Dr. Basil, The Clyst, Hampton Park, Hereford.

Milligan, T. Vaughan, The Vinery, 28, Southbank Road, Hereford.
Milne, Leonard, 29, Church Street, Hereford. :

Moir, Rev. Preb, A. L., M.A,, Grafton Bank, Grafton, Hereford.
Moir, Mrs., Grafton Bank, Grafton, Hereford.

Moir, Miss P. M. L., 29, St. George’s Road, Cheltenham.

Money-Kyrle, Rev. C. L., Homme House, Much Marcle, Dymock, Glos.

Monkley, R. C., Plas Gwynn, Hampton Park, Hereford.
Morgan, Miss P. E.,, F.L.A,, 14, The Cloisters, Hereford.

. Morgan, W. E., Wye Valley Motors, St. Martin's Street, .
Morling, Miss, Clairville ngse, Ross-on-Wye. Hereford
" Morris, R. C., Uplands Farm, Ledbury.
Murphy, Miss D. M., 73, Green Street, Hereford.
. Murray, J. C., Bank House, Southend, Ledbury.

' Newman, Eric S., 64 Penn Grove Road, Hereford.
E Newman, Mrs., 64 Penn Grove Road, Hereford.
- Newport Public Libraries, Dock Street, Newport, Mon.
| Ne\tvjvlton, Freeman, 43, Penn Grove Road, Hereford.
Noble, F., B.A., County Secondary School, Ludlow Road, Knight
Norton, W. J., Mill Farm, Bromfield, Ludiow, Salop. - fenighton, Raduor.

Qakley, Ernest, Brygwyn, Much Dewchurch, Hereford.
Qakley, Mrs., Brygwyn, Much Dewchurch, Hereford.
Oakley, Bro. James, Belmont Abbey, Hereford.

| Okell, Miss, Fern Bank, Ross-on-Wye.

- Owen, Mrs. Meredith, Perton Grange, Stoke Edith, Hereford.

i Pa._ge, Mr. and Mrs., 23, South Street, Lecminster.
| Pain, H. W., Woodbine Cottage, Kingsland, Leominster.
Pamj:er, Mrs. A. E., 69, Broomy Hill, Hereford.
_ Pa.la.l_ret, M;'s., Yew Tree Cottage, Westhill, Ledbury.
Palairet, Miss U., Yew Tree Cottage, Westhill, Ledbury.
| Palmer, Rex, Prospect House, Canon Pyon Road, Hereford.
Palmer, Rev. and M_Is., The Rectory, Weston-under-Penyard Ross-on-Wye
Parker, L. H., 29, Richmond Road, Malvern Link, Worcester. ve
Parker, Mrs., 29, Richmond Road, Malvern Link, Worcester.‘
Parker Rev, Preb. T. H., Vineyard Croft, Hampton Park Road, Hereford
Parker, Mrs., Vineyard Croft, Hampton Park Road, Hereford. ' ‘
Parkinson, Mrs. Snsan, 5, Courtney Rise, Aylestone Hill, Hereford.
Peacock, S. P., Marsh House Farm, Eaton Bishop, Hereford
Peebles, . R, M.A., Cathedral Sctiool, Hereford, '
1 nnington, T, W,, towe Inn, Whitney-on-W:
Penn_ ington, Mrs., Old Stowe Inn, Whitney-?)’n-Wye),reI’igee;g:grd‘
Phillips, Rev. B. E., Inverlea, Cantilupe Road, Ross-on-Wye.
Ppe, H. E., 2, Hunderton Road, Hereford. '
Pile, Mrs., 2, Hunderton Road, Hereford.
- Pitts, A. E., ¢/o Lloyds Bank Chambers, Hereford.
Poole, E., Ufton Court, Holme Lacy, Hereford.
ggxgﬂ, g ]b., It{ij:g’% %&nieBHa.lt. Hereford.
, Herbert J., F.R.I.LB.A,, 338, Upper
Powell, H. S.,, Moorend, Ashperton, Lgc?burlgfd bury Road, Hercford.
i Powell, Randal L., Lower Hill, Breinton, Hereford.
Powell, Rupert, Awnells, Much Marcle, Ledbury.
Pow_rell, Mrs., A'wnells, Much Marcle, Ledbury.
grr:;ll{, A, C., Kingscroft, 145, King's Acre Road, Hereford.
poett, L. J., Brobury House, Letton, Hereford.
Prendergast, M. K., 15, Orchard Gardens, Hereford.
Preston, qu. E. D. and M.rs:, 80, Hampton Park Road, Hereford.
Pr?VOSt' Miss C. M., Edelweis, Brilley, Whitney-on-Wye, Hereford
ice, J. C., The Garth, Kingsland, Leominster, ' ‘
che, Mrs., The Garth, Kingsland, Leominster.
Prior, Mrs. Dorothy, Wiltondale, Bridstow, Ross-on-Wye.

aa Sl




Rawlinson, Misses K. E, and D. M,, 13, ‘Audley Crescent, Aylestone Hill,
Hereford.

Redcliffe, H. W., 35, Mount Crescent, Tupsley, Hereford.

Redcliffe, Mrs., 35, Mount Crescent, Tupsley, Hereford.

Redmond, Rev. G., The Vicarage, Breinton, Hereford.

Rennell of Rodd, Kt. Hon. Lord, The Rodd, Presteigne, Radnor.

Richards, Rev. Ivor J., Hon. C. F., Llanarth Vicarage, Raglan, Mon.

Roiser, E. A., L.R.I.B.A., 12, Imperial Square, Cheltenham.

Rooke, Allan, 47, St. Martin’s Street, Hereford.

Rose, Dame Hilda, Baysham Court, Ross-on-Wye.

Ross, J. H., The Mount, Leominster.

Sandford, C. and Mrs., Eye Manor, Leominster.

Sanders, J. G., 4, Eign Road, Hereford.

Sanina, Mrs. E. E,, 80, Lichfield Avenue, Hereford.

Saunders, Rev. W. R., Kenchester Rectory, Hereford.

Scott, H. N., Lincoln House, Kingsland, Leominster.

Scott, Miss W. Lindsey, Upper Bridge Court, Whitney-on-Wye, Hereford.
Seott, Wing-Comdr, R. D,, The Friars House, Barton Road, Hereford.
Scudamore, F. H., Haywood Lodge, Belmont, Hereford.

Scudder, Mrs., School House, Kinnersley, Hereford.

Sealey, G. Newton, 28, Hampton Park Road, Hereford.

Shaw, R. P., Garway House, Garway Hill, Hereford.

Shetliffe, Mrs., Holland House, 70, Belmont Road, Hereford.
Shetliffe, Miss, Holland House, 70, Belmont Road, Hereford.
Shuttleworth, Dr. V. S., Old Tan House, Grosmont, Abergavenny, Mon,
Sidebotham, J. B., C.M.G., Bridge House, Brimfield, Ludlow, Salop.
Simpson, C. W. T., 53, Penn Grove Road, Hereford.

Simpson, Mrs., 53, Penn Grove Road, Hereford.

Sisson, Rev. R. B., The Rectory, Moccas, Hereford.

Slatter, Arthur W., Delbury, Quay Street, Hereford.

Smith, E. K., Wheat Close, Cutterbach Lane, Kington, Herefordshire.
Smith, J. P., 95, College Road, Hereford.

Smyth, Dr. David, Moorfield House, Edgar Street, Hereford.

Smyth, Mrs., Moorfield House, Edgar Street, Hereford.

Snewin, Miss J., 194, Whitecross Road, Hereford.

Spink, C. G., 6, Geoffrey Avenue, Hereford.

Spinks, C. N., 9, Friars Street, Hereford.

Stanford, 8. C., B.A,, F.S.A., Ashfield Cottage, Luston, Leominster.
Stanford, Mrs., Ashfield Cottage, Luston, Leominster.

Statham, C. H., Quarryette, Aylestone Hill, Hereford.

Stewart, Douglas, Whiteholme, Belmont, Hereford.

Swanson, Mrs. A. M. G., Hillstow, Bank Crescent, Ledbury.

Sturgess, R. C. H.,, Town Well, Credenhill, Hereford.

Styles, Philip, F.S.A., 15, Church Street, Warwick.

Suter, E. J., 86, Eign Street, Hereford.

Symonds, Major and Mrs. F. M., Llandinabo Court, Hereford.

Talbot Rice, Hon. Mrs., Old Weir, Lyonshall, Kington, Herefordshire.
Tattershall, Miss, Forest Gate, Callow, Hereford.

Tebb, R. N. and Mrs., Lower House, Eardisley, Hereford.

Thomas, C., Hillside, Abbeydore, Hereford.

Thomas, Miss M., Hillside, Abbeydore, Hereford.

Thomas, ]. Roderick, Hillerest, 87, Belmont Road, Hereford.
Thomas, M. H., 19, Nelson Street, Hereford.

Thomas, W. Ridley, The Lawns, Nunnington, Hereford.

Thomas, W. Hadyn, Hightree, Leintwardine, Bucknell, Salop.
Thompson, A. H., The Hyde, Woolhope, Hereford.

Thorn, X., The Twynings, Putley, Ledbury.

Thurston, E. J., The Wain, Munstone, Hereford.

Tuchet-Jesson, Miss G. A.,, Homme House, Much Marcle, Ledbury.

Turner, John, The Hill, King’s Pyon, Hereford.
Turner, Mrs., The Hill, King’s Pyon, Hereford.
Turney, Rev. F. L, B.A., The Vicarage, Bridstow, Hereford,

Uhlman, Hon. Mrs. Fred, 47, Downshire Hill, London, N.W.3.

Vaughan, G. P, M.A,, M.B., B.C.L., Orleton House, Orleton, Ludlow, Salop.
Victor, Miss M., 31, Castle Street, Hereford.

Victor, Rev. J., and Mrs.,, Well Cottage, Quay Street, Hereford.

Vinden, W. A., 354, Upper Ledbury Road. Hereford.

Walker, Dr. C. W., Summerhayes, 14, Venn's Lane, Hereford.
Walker, Dr. David, University College, Swansea.

Walker, Dr. R. R., Warden Court, Presteigne, Radnor.

Wall, T. G., 30, Blackdown Road, Knowle, Warwickshire.
Walters, E. A., F.L.S,, Northwood, Presteigne, Radnor.

Walters, Mrs.,, Northwood, Fresteigne, Radnor.

Walter, R. J. K., Eignslow, 4, Hampton Park Road, Hereford.
Watkins, M. P., Pine Grove, Symonds Yat, Ross-on-Wye,
Watkins, Mrs, Pine Grove, Symonds Yat, Ross-on-Wye,
Watson, P. Lloyd, Church House, Norton, Presteigne, Radnor.
Watson, Miss P., Church House, Norton, Presteigne, Radnor.
Watts, Dr. H. H., Wargrave House, St. Owen Street, Hereford.
Watts, Mrs., Wargrave House, St. Owen Street, Hereford.
Weedon, D. A. ]., South View, Potters Meadow, Coleshill, Amersham, Bucks,
White, R, Comley, The Haven Cottage, Ullingswick, Hereford.
Whitfield, J. P., 36, Three Elms Road, Hereford.

Whiting, Mrs. E. Southall, Old Quarry, Almeley, Hereford.
Whittal, J. Sidney, Pantall's Farm, Sutton St. Nicholas, Hereford.
Wibbetley, L. J. and Mrs., 27, Aylestone Hill, Hereford.
W!dgery, H. 5., M.A., All Saints’ Chambers, Hereford.

Wigley, Rev. T., 17, Moor Farm Lane, Hereford.

Williams, Miss, The Dunns, Weston-under-Penyard, Ross-on-Wye.
W}lhams, J. G., Rosemont, Lion Street, Hay-on-Wye.

Williams, Mrs. N., The Rhos, Much Birch, Hereford.

Williams, R., 63, College Road, Hereford.

Williams, Peter, 35, Mill Street, Hereford.

Wingate, C. J., Huntington House, Huntington, Hereford.

Winnington-Ingram, The Ven. A, J., M.A., The Close, Hereford.

Witchell, Mrs. G. G., Henshall, Playford, Much Marcle, Ledbury.
Wood, A. E., c/o Thompson and Wood, Broad Street, Hereford.

| Wood, Arthur S., Lady Well House, Vowchurch, Hereford.
| Woods, Col. S. H. and Mrs., Lawnwood, Hampten Park Road, Hereford.

Wolverhampton Pubtic Library.

| Worsey, J. D., 1, Harold Street, Hereford.

Wright, A, Shaw, County Library, Widemarsh Street, Hereford.

| Wright, Mrs. K. M., Ambrey Cottage, Croft Castle, Leominster.

i

Wright, William H., 2, The Grange, Leominster.
‘Wynne-Thomas, Rev. Preb. A., The End House, Friars Street, Hereford.

Yelloly, 8. W. and Mrs., Silia, Presteigne, Radnor.
Yorke, Mr. and Mrs. C., Llanryton, Cawdor, Ross-on-Wye.

3 ;
| Yorke, Miss ]., Llanryton, Cawdor, Ross-on-Wye.

| Zimmerman, A. U., The Vine, Tarrington, Hereford.




RULES

OF THE
Woolhope RNaturalists’ Field Club
(HEREFORDSHIRE)
I.—That the Society be known as the “ WooLHOPE

Naturarists’ FiELp CLuB (HEREFORDSHIRE) ” for the practical
study in all branches of the natural history and archzology of
Herefordshire and the districts immediately adjacent.

II.—That the Club shall consist of ordinary members (ladies
and gentlemen) and such honorary members as may from time to
time be admitted ; from whom a president, four vice-presidents,
honorary treasurer and honorary secretary shall be appointed at
the annual winter meeting to be held in Hereford in the latter part
of each year, and they shall hold office for one year beginning at the
next annual spring meeting. The club may also accept for affiliation
as approved such societies or groups as exist for the furtherance of
similar purposes to those of the club. Each group shall be entitled
to have one representative at all meetings of the club, to receive
copies of the Transactions and generally be treated as one ordinary
member,

II1.—The management of the club shall be in the hands of a
central committee consisting of the said seven officers ex-officio
and twelve other members elected by ballot at the annual winter
meeting. Each elected member of committee shall hold office for
three years from the next annual spring meeting and four shall
retire each year but be eligible for re-election. Every candidate for
election to the central committee shall be individually proposed
and seconded at the annual winter meeting and no proposal for
election or re-election exn bioc shall be accepted. In the event of
ties the president or the chairman of the meeting shall have a
casting vote. Casual vacancies may be filled at any general meeting
and any member then elected shall hold office until the date when
the term of office of the member whom he or she succeeds would have
expired. The central committee shall be empowered to appoint
an assistant secretary ; its duties shall include making all arrange-
ments for the meetings of the year. Seven shall form a quorum.

IV.—That the members of the club shall hold not less than
three field meetings during the year, in the most interesting localities
for investigating the natural history and archaology of the district.
That the days and places of two at least of such regular meetings
be selected at the annual winter meeting, and that ten clear days
notice of every meeting be communicated to members by a circular

from the assistant secretary ; but that the central committee be
empowered upon urgent occasions, to alter the days of such regular
field meetings, and also to fix special or extra field meetings

during the year. The president shall have the privilege of choosing
the place of one field day during his year of office. The committee
shall also arrange such indoor meetings and lectures during the
winter as they find possible.

V.—That the annual subscription for members and affiliated
societies be thirty shillings, payable on the Ist January in each
year to the honorary treasurer or assistant secretary. The sub-
scription for additional members of the same household may at their
option be reduced to ten shillings each, but those paying this

. reduced sum shall not be entitled to receive the publications of the

club. Each member may have the privilege of introducing a friend
to any field meeting of the club, but the same visitor must not
attend more than two such meetings in one year. Members avail-
ing themselves of this privilege will be required to pay a capitation
fee of five shillings for a full day meeting, or two shillings and six-
pence for a half-day meeting, in respect of each visitor.

V1.—That the president be requested to favour the club with

| an address at the annual spring meeting on the proceedings of the

year, together with such observations as he may deem conductive

" to the welfare of the club, and the promotion of its objects.

VII.—Every candidate for membership of the club shall be
proposed and seconded by members. The central committee shall
elect or reject the candidate and one black ball in five shall exclude.

VIII,—That members finding rare or interesting specimens, or
observing any remarkable phenomenon relating to any branch of
natural history, or making or becoming acquainted with any
archzological discovery in the district, shall immediately forward
a statement thereof to the honorary secretary or to the appropriate
sectional editor.

IX.—That the club undertake the formation and publication
of correct lists of the various matural productions and antiquities
of the county of Hereford with such observations as their respective
authors may deem necessary.

X.—That any member whose annual subscription is twelve
months in arrear shall not be entitled to any of the rights and
privileges of membership, and that any member whose annual
subscription is two years in arrear may be removed from the
membership of the club by the central committee.

XI.—That the assistant secretary send out circulars ten days
t least before the annual spring meeting to all members who have
OtRpu?id X1:heir subscriptions and draw their particular attention
0 € X.

b1




XII.—That no addition to or alteration of the rules of the
club be made except at a general meeting, after notice has been
given of the proposed addition or alteration at a previous meeting,
and the gemeral purport of such addition or alteration has been
circulated to all members with the notice of the general meeting.

XIII.—That no grant of money from the funds of the club
exceeding £5 may be voted for any purpose, unless notice of such
proposed grant has been given at a previous meeting, or has been
approved by the central committee.

XIV.—That these rules be published in each volume of the
Transactions.

Poolhope Natucalists’ Field Club

(HEREFORDSHIRE)

PROCEEDINGS, 1958

SpriNG LECTURES, ETC.

THURSDAY, 30TH JANUARY. The President, Mr. ¥. M.
Kendrick, in the chair,

It was reported that Allensmore Court had been sold for
demolition.

Mr. Gibson-Watt, M.P., wrote enclosing a letter from Mr.
Nugent, Parliamentary Secretary to the Ministry of Transport,
saying that the question of the preservation of the Roman road
at Abbey Dore had been referred to Sir Brian Robertson. The
County Council regretted that at present they could not allocate
any funds to the project.

A green glazed tile from Freen’s Court, the property of Mr. C.
Bishop, having the initials and royal arms of Henry VII and his
queen, Elizabeth, was on exhibition. See * Transactions”,

| 1957. pp. 345-6.

. Dr. A, W. Langford read a paper on ** Some Hereford medical
history.” (See pp. 56-66.)

WEDNESDAY, 19TH FEBRUARY., The President, Mr. F. M.
Kendrick, in the chair.

A letter from Sir Brian Robertson stated that arrangements
for the disposal of Abbey Dore station were being prepared and
that the Club would be advised when they were completed.

Miss C. M. Prevost, Mr. and Mrs, T. G. Lloyd, Mr. Philip G.
Jones, Mr. D. G. Bayliss, Miss Estelle Davies, and Dame Hilda
Rose were declared elected members of the Club.

Mr. I. Cohen gave his annual report on archzology, and

" Mr. Kendrick his on botany. The Rev. R. B. Sisson’s report on

entomology was read in his absence.

‘e . (See pp. 345-357 in
Transactions ** for 1957.)

. THURSDAY, 61H MARCH. The President, Mr. F. M. Kendrick,
in the chair.

The Hon. Secretary said he had received confirmation that
the tax concession under the Covenant scheme would not apply
to the Club members.

Mr. W. T. Jones was declared elected a member of the Club,

. The Rev. D. A. L. Maclean, of Dochgarroch, gave a lecture
n “ The Family of St. Thomas Cantilupe.” (See pp. 5-21.)
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THURSDAY, 27TH MarcH. The President, Mr. F. M.
Kendrick, in the chair.

The Hon. Secretary stated that the Hereford City Council
had given £20 towards the cost of the Transactions.

Col. and Mrs. Wood, Mr, Llewellyn Davies, Mr. and Mrs.
Hagtain, and Mrs. E. Lorina were declared elected members of the
Club.

The President gave his presidential address on *“ Notes on
the botany of Dinmore Hill”, (Sec pp. 1-5.)

THURSDAY, 10TH APRIL. ANNUAL SPRING MEETING. The
retiring President, Mr. F. M. Kendrick, in the chair.

The Hon. Secretary announced that a donation of £50 had
been promised by the Wye Guild.

The President reviewed the meetings held in 1957 and then
installed Dr. A. W. Langford as President for 1958-59. Dr.
Langford, on behalf of the members, thanked Mr. Kendrick for
his services.

Mr. F. C. Morgan having announced his retirement from the
post of Hon. Secretary as from 30th June, 1958, Mr. Kendrick
was elected unanimously to succeed him. The Venerable A. J.
Winnington-Ingram on behalf of the Club thanked Mr. Morgan
for his services.

The Assistant Secretary, Mr. V. H. Coleman, gave his report
for 1957. Membership on 31st December, 1957, was 458. New
members during 1957 were :—Ladies 10, Gentlemen 21, Library 1 ;
total 32, Losses:—died 8, resigned 23, struck off for non-
payment of subscriptions 1 ; total 32. The membership remained
unaltered.

The Hon. Librarian reported that 69 books were borrowed
during the year, a great increase on previous years.

Mr. V. H. Coleman announced his wish to cease representing
the Club at the Council for British Archzology meetings in
Birmingham. Mr. J. F. Norwood was appointed in his place.

FIELD MEETINGS

TrursDAY, 15TH May. (Half day).

At Ullingswick church Prebendary S. H. Martin gave a
history of the building. At Wall Hills, Thornbury, Mr. C. S.
Stanford described the Iron Age camp and gave his theory on the
defence of these camps in general. At a meeting held afterwards
the following were declared elected members of the Club :—

Mr. A. E. Brown, Mr. R. E. Blackith, Miss E. J. Pugh, Dr. V. S.
Shuttleworth, Rev. T. Wigley.

iii
. . . . h
ty divided, some walking, and others going by coac
to Nzgleeﬁ;o% manor, where the dovecot and manor house Werfi
seen and described by permission of Mr. and Mrs. R. R. Ab}f:
Smith. Later, at Hampton Wafer, Mr. .Stanford described the
excavations at the deserted village site. (See vol. XXXV,
pp. 337-344.)

SATURDAY, TTH JUNE. o et inte Wiltchire
a journey via Gloucester, Bir 'p, etc., into ,
someAgferthe] memgers present climbed Silbury Iill, and aft]clar
Mr. V. H. Coleman had described the stones of Avebury the
museum and manor house were visited. After tea at Clrencesijter,
a meeting was held. The following were declared clected mem 9;55
of the Club :—Mr. W. Birchley, Mrs. E. Ball, Mr. and Mrs. R. N.
Tebb. .

. Coleman reported that he had attended a meeting at
Abbsgnggeeconvengd by Mr. Gibson-Watt, M.P., at which the
Chairman and Clerk of the County Council, Mr. Cole, of the Dore
and Bredwardine Rural District Council, and two representatlvei
of the British Transport Commission were present. The Transpor
Commissioners stated that it would not be possible to §ell the two
sections of the Roman road separately from the remainder of thg
yard. It was agreed that a further section nearer the main roai
be excavated, and if the Roman road still exlsjced there it wou g
be sold at a nominal price. The County Council would not spen
money on fencing or maintenance, but would accept ownership.

SATURDAY, 21sT June. (Half day).

Mr. F. C. Morgan described the church and its monuments
at Upton Bishop. gAt Rudhall, visited by permission of Mr. and
Mrs. Felton, Dr. Langford gave a talk on the history of the house,
and then the rockeries and water fowl were 1nspect(?d. (See
“ Transactions " for 1936 for a description of the restoration of the
building by the late E. J. Beitington.) Later, Checkley Cockshoot
was reached, where Mr. Kendrick pointed out the mtergestn}llg
plants and geology of the district, and a meeting was held 1ln ‘; 3
coaches owing to the rain. The following were declared electe
members of the Club :—Mrs. Henshall W1tchel}, Mrs. R. C. Morris,
Mr. Farrow, Miss Daniels, Hon. Mrs. Talbot Rice.

SATURDAY, 12TH JULY.

At Abergavenny Canon E. J. Davies and Mr. F. C. Morgan
described the many interesting monuments in the church. ~After
lunch at Tretower the Court and castle were described by the
custodian, and later, at Brecon Gaer, Mr. Coleman described the




iv
Roman fort, the largest in Wales, which was excavated by Sir
Mortimer Wheeler in 1924/5.

At Brecon the members visited the museumn and at the
Wellington Hotel a meeting was held. It was reported that an
album of paintings of birds by the late Mrs. Armitage had been
given by her daughter, Miss E. Armitage.

THURSDAY, 31sT JULY.

At the Star Hotel, Upton-on-Severn, after coffee, a meeting
was held. Mr. F. C. Morgan spoke appreciatively of the great
work for the Club by the late Mr. R. S. Gavin Robinson, who had
died a few days before. (See p. vii for an obituary notice.)

The following were declared elected members :—Mrs. Loder-
Symonds, The Rt. Hon. Lord Croft, Miss J. Snewin,

At Mid Littleton, Worcestershire, a large tithe barn, formerly
the property of the abbots of Evesham, was described by Mr. F. C,
Morgan. At Ragley Hall, near Alcester, the recently opened Hall
with its treasures was visited, and at Alcester the church, market
hall and some timber houses were described by local residents.

Tea was provided at Coughton Court, the home of the
Throckmorton family, and which had connections with the
Gunpowder Plot. Afterwards the house with many treasures
was visited.

THURSDAY, 4TH SEPTEMBER.

At Mortimer’s Cross a talk on the battle there was given by
Mr. J. C. Price, and this was supplemented by Brigadier Croft.
At the gravel pit at Aymestrey Mr. Kendrick spoke on the glacia-
tion of the area and described how this had altered the river
system. Floods were encountered on the road to Downton, and
the intended walk through the gorge had to be abandoned. At
Downton Castle Major W. M. P. Kincaid-Lennox kindly showed
the house and the important collection of paintings. Prebendary
A. L. Moir gave an account of the brothers Richard and Thomas
Andrew Knight. The former (1750-1824) inherited the Downton
estate from his grandfather, an ironmaster of Coalbrookdale, and
built the present mansion. Thomas Andrew (1759-1838) was
President of the Royal Horticultural Society, published ** Pomona
Herefordensis ”’ in 1804, and was the first man who began to
breed plants. He befriended Henry Hill Hickman, a pioneer in
the use of anzsthetics by inhalation.

After lunch Mr. 1. Cohen read notes on Bringewood Forge.
Later, Brampton Bryan church, the remains of the castle, and
Brampton Bryan Hall were described by Mrs. Williams, by whose
permission the Hall was visited.

v

AuTuMN LECTURES, ETC.

WEDNESDAY, 15TH OcTOBER. The President, Dr. A. W.
Langford, in the chair.

The following were declared elected members of the Club :—
Mr. R. J. Bell, Mr. L. G. Berrington, Mr. T. G. Wall, Mr. C. H.
Clough, the Hon. Mrs. Fred Ulhman, Mr. H. W. Pain,

Dr. W. H. J. Baker exhibited a number of human bones
discovered during the digging for a drain at the County Hospital.

Mr. H. Williamson gave a talk on * Roses,” illustrated by
coloured slides.

TuurspAY, 30T OctoBER. The President, Dr. A, W.
Langford, in the chair.

The following were declared elected members of the Club :—
Mrs. V. Higham, Mrs. P. Hoddell, Mr. H. N. Scott.

A letter from Air-Commodore D, Iron stated that he could
not continue excavations at Clifford Castle until the vegetation
had been cut down, and asked for assistance. Miss Biddulph and
Mrs. E. Davies agreed to assist.

Mr. Coleman reported that he and Mr. Jenkins had exposed
the Roman paving at Abbey Dore in two places, much nearer the
public road. Unfortunately, it was not in good condition.
Excavation had been difficult because of the large quantities of
stone tipped on the site during the war.

Mr. M. P. Watkins wrote to offer a collection of bees, moths
and butterflies collected by the late Mr. Cornish Watkins. It
was agreed that these be accepted with thanks, provided that room
for them could be found.

It was decided to send a representative to a public inquiry at
Ledbury on 28th November concerning an application of the
company owning the Gullet quarry, on the Malvern Hills. The
application to be opposed.

Mr. E. A. Walters gave a lecture on “ The Mineral Deficiencies
of Plants.” He also mentioned the use of isotopes in detecting
deficiencies.

THURSDAY, 131H NOVEMBER. The President, Dr. A. W,
Langford, in the chair. It was agreed that Mr. S. C. Stanford
represent the Club at the inquiry concerning the Gullet quarry.

Prebendary S. H. Martin read a paper on ‘' Science in
Hereford during the Middle Ages.” (See pp. 21-28.) Dr. D. S.
Spence followed and gave illustrations by models and slides of the
relative positions of the sun, moon and earth.

WEDNESDAY, 191H NoVEMBER. The President, Dr. A. W,
Langford, in the chair.

.. Mr. J. Cook gave a paper on * The Romans in Scotland,”
illustrated with slides and photographs.
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THURSDAY, 5TH DECEMBER. The President, Dr. A. W.
Langford, in the chair,

Mr. R. Pye was declared elected a member of the Club.

Professor W, Wilson read a paper on “ The Universe,”
describing its form and immensity, and speaking of famous
astronomers.

THURSDAY, 11TH DECEMBER. THE ANNUAL AUTUMN MEET-
iNG. The President, Dr. A. W, Langford, in the chair.

On behalf of the members, the President presented a cheque
to Mr. F. C. Morgan in recognition of his services to the Club for
many years. Mr. Morgan suitably replied.

Dr. C. W. Walker gave his reports upon ornithology and
mammals for 1958. (See #p. 133-134.)

Mr. P. A, B. Elkin, Hon. Treasurer, presented the annual
Statermment of Accounts for 1957. On 31st December, 1957, the
balance on the General Account was £270 5s. 1d., compared with
£228 1s. 7d. the previous year. The balance of the General
Reserve Account was £61 4s. 11d., compared with £59 2s. 5d. ;
of the Flora Account, £50 7s. 6d., compared with £50 0s, 0d.;
the Merrick Bequest IFund, £50 1s.0d., compared with £44 18s. 6d.;
and Marshall Fund, £28 8s. 9d., compared with 26 3s. 7d.
These accounts were adopted. The Hon. Treasurer stated that
nearly 100 subscriptions were outstanding.

The Officers for 1959-60 were elected as follows :—

President : Mrs. Leeds. Vice-Presidents: Mr. I. Cohen,
The Venerable A. J. Winnington-Ingram, Preb. A, L. Moir,
Dr. A. W. Langford.

Central Committee : Mr. V. Higham, Miss Biddulph, Mr. C. J.
Price, and Miss F. Pritchard for three years. Mr. R. J. Jenkins
and Mr. W. Pile for two years. The last two replaced Mrs. T. H.
Parker, who resigned, and Mr. R. S, Gavin Robinson, who had-died.

Hon. Secretary : Mr. F. M. Kendrick. Hon. Librarian: Mr.
F. C. Morgan. Hon. Auditor: Mr. H. 5. Widgery. Hon.
Lanternist : Mr. W. T. Jones. Editorial Committee : Mr. F. C.
Morgan, chairman ; Mr. I. Cohen, Mr. W. H. Howse, The Vener-
able A, J. Winnington-Ingram, Mr. S. C. Stanford, and Prebendary
A. L. Moir.

Gbituary

RALPH SPENCER GAVIN ROBINSON

On 22nd July, 1958, the Woolhope Club suffered a serious
loss by the sudden death of Mr. R. S. Gavin Robinson at the age
of 70. From 1910 until 1931, he had been in Ceylon as a tea and
rubber planter, except during the war of 1914-18, when he served
in the Gloucester Regiment as lieutenant.

In 1931, Mr. Robinson came to live at Poston, Vowchurch,
which his family had inherited by marriage from the Boughton
family about 1824. His father, Mr. Fdward L. Gavin Robinson,
who married Henrietta Elizabeth Harrison, had greatly enlarged
the “* round house ", a summer shooting box which had been built
for the Boughtons by Sir Williamn Chambers, and here Mr. Robinson
lived for the remainder of his life.

In 1932, Mr. Robinson joined the Club, and soon became an
enthusiastic member, devoting his energies to the study of the
pre-historic archzology of Herefordshire, particularly of the
southern half, where he knew every site that was likely to have
remains of early man. Soon he made important discoveries and his
collection of flint and other implements grew to a considerable
size and importance. His interest had been aroused by the discovery
of a Bronze age cist, in the Olchon valley in 1932, for which he
sent his 1Q-wheeled lorry for transport to the Hereford Museum.
But his most important work was the excavation of the Iron-age
camp adjoining his home at Poston. Here he was untiring in
helping in the work for which he gave every facility and contributed
to the cost. Important finds were made as a result, largely carried
out under the supervision of Mr. George Marshall in the years
1932-35, and in 1937, when Mr. C. Green was director of operations.
The result of their combined efforts was not published until 1958,
when the Council for British Archaology made a grant of £100
towards a full and illustrated report written by Dr. I. E. Anthony,

Mr. Robinson was elected President of the Club in 1936, and
he contributed a chapter on *“ Pre-Historic Man in Herefordshire
to the Centenary Volume written by a number of experts on various
local subjects to commemorate the 100th anniversary of the
foundation of the Club in 1851. He also delivered some few papers
to the Transactions marked by research and learning, and was
indefatigable in promoting the Club’s welfare.

Mr. Robinson farmed at Poston on his return to England in
1931, and also took up forestry as a profession. He had the manage-
ment of several estates and was secretary to the Home Grown
Timber Marketing Association. In 1910, he married at Colombo,
Winifred Mary Dodgson, whom he leaves a widow, and had one

son and two daughters. His large collection of stone implements,
pottery and bronze articles found at Poston and elsewhere on the
Surrounding hills were bequeathed to the Woolhope Club for
display in the Hereford Museum.
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MERRICK BEQUEST FUND
YEAR TOo 31sT DECEMBER, 1958

RECEIPTS

To Balance at Bank ...

PAYMENTS

2nd May. By Transfer to Current Account ...

31st Dec.

,» Balance at Bank

1958

. Interest on £100 3}% War Stock

,» Bank Interest

1958

1st Jan.
31st Dec
31st Dec.

456 3

GEORGE MARSHALL FUND

YEAR TO 31sT DECEMBER, 1958

!

PAYMENTS

By CURRENT YEAR'S

1958

d

s
28 8 9

RECEIPTS

To Balance at Bank ...

31st Dec.

1st Jan.

DISBURSEMENTS :

,» Subscriptions :

Bristol and Gloucester
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Woolhope PNaturalists’ Field Club

(HEREFORDSHIRE)

PROCEEDINGS, 1959

THE FIrRsT MEETING, 7TH JANUARY. The President, Dr.
A. W. Langford, in the chair.

Mr. Lewis H. Biggs, B.A., contributed a paper on the Moravian
church in Leominster and north Herefordshire—its history and
influence from the fifteenth century to its introduction into England,
mainly from the Leominster Moravian diaries.

THE SECOND MEETING, 4TH FEBRUARY. The President, Dr. A.
W. Langford, in the chair.

The Hon. Secretary had received a letter saying that a garage
was being built near Kilpeck church, but as planning permission
had been given, nothing could be done. The lease is for five years
only, therefore objection could be raised when renewal became due.

The following were declared elected members of the Club :
Mr. M. K. Prendergast, Miss M. Thomas, Dr. T. Stuart-Black
Kelly, Mr. K. J. Addyman, Mr. Alwyn H. L. Francis.

Mr. N. P. Bridgewater gave papers on “ Ancient buried roads
in South Herefordshire ” and “ The Whitchurch Vagas ™ (see pp.
218-233).

L= —

THE THIRD MEETING, 12TH FEBRUARY. The President, Dr. A.
W. Langford, in the chair.

Mr. F. C. Morgan gave a paper entitled ' The Chantries of the
Hereford diocese "’. He was able to throw light on the local history
of the Reformation as recorded in the surveys of 1546 and 1547.
He also gave a list of the pensions of displaced religious in Hereford-
shire. The original certificates relating to these are in the cathedral
archives,

Declared elected members of the Club were : Mrs. M. J. Medli-
cott, Mrs. S, C. Stanford, Miss E. V. G. Brown, Mr. E. L. Crooks.

Rejoining were : Col. C. W. Dann, Mr. N. H. Thomas.

THE FourTH MEETING, 26TH FEBRUARY. The President,
Dr. A. W. Langford, in the chair.

The following were declared elected members of the Club :
Mr. G. T. Gurney, Mrs. M. M. Scudder, the Misses Rawlinson,
Miss M. Jancey.
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Brig.-Gen. W. D. Croft had written saying that it was proposed
to excavate Croft Ambrey and had asked for volunteers.

A portion of the city wall had collapsed at Dr. Chamberlain’s
surgery in Grey Friars, and a portion in Aubrey Street, which used
to be in a fine state, was now in poor condition. This had been
reported to the Ministry of Works and a representative would be
sent to inspect.

Mrs. F. Leeds read a paper *“ The Earlier history of the Here-
fordshire postal services” in which she dealt mainly with the
methods of sending correspondence before a state postal service
was introduced (see pp. 160-167).

Tue Firre MEETING, 4TH Mawca. The Venerable A, J.
Winnington-Ingram, Vice-President, in the chair,

Mrs. Chisholm and Mr. F. A, Leeds were declared elected
mmembers of the Club.

On exhibition was a giant puff ball from Wessington Court
sent by Dr. Malkin.

Mr. F. M. Kendrick read a paper entitled “ The Ferns : with
special reference to Herefordshire specimens . A film sirip, illus-
trating the life cycle of ferns, and actual pressed specimens were
shown.

SIXxTH MEETING, 19TH MagrcH. The President, Dr. A. W.
Langford, in the chair.

Mr. R. H. Bulmer was declared elected a member of the Club.

Mr. I. Cohen gave his report on archzology for 1958 (see
pp. 126-128). )

Mr. J. L. F. Norwood gave further details on the King's Ditch
(see pp. 117-125).

Mr. F. M. Kendrick gave his report on batany for 1958 (see

$p. 130-132).

THE SEVENTH MEETING, 26TH MARCH.  The President, Dr. A.
W. Langford, in the chair.

Mr. I. Cohen delivered his paper on ‘‘ The Hereford—Ledbury
and Gloucester Canal” (see pp. 167-179).

Mr. Morgan stated that the grant of £50, generously given by
the Council for British Archzology recently, was for the publication
of the reports on excavations at Kenchester and Leintwardine. In
addition a grant of £100 for excavations at Leintwardine was being

made by the Wye Guild.

v

; TeE EigateE MEETING, 28D APRIL. The President, Dr. A. W.
Langford, in the chair.
Dr. A. W. Langford gave his presidential address entitled
‘ The Herefordshire General Hospital " (see pp. 149-160).

! SPRING ANNUAL MEETING, 16TH ApPrRIL. The President, Dr. A.
| W. Langford, in the chair.
' The retiring President reported on his year of office. He said
| that on almost all the field days the weather had been wet and that
. there had been a record number of winter meetings.
The Hon. Treasurer gave a statement of accounts for 1958
| {see pp. vili-x).
| The Assistant Secretary reported that the membership at the
end of 1957 was 458. During 1958, there were 43 new members
(20 ladies and 23 gentlemen} and two re-joining members. Loss
. was 12—10 died and two resigned, Membership at the end of 1958
| was 491,
The report of the ad hoc committee formed on 1st August,
1958, to consider new ideas put forward by Mr, V. Higham, was
then considered. This report, consisting of 22 suggestions covering
| two sheets of foolscap had been considered by the Central Committee
and was summarised by the President. The Assistant Secretary
gave figures showing the increase of membership during the last
five years. The point then arose as to whether the suggestions
should be voted on at that meeting as Mr. 1. Cohen considered that
msufficient notice had been given. Mr. Franklin opposed this view
and Mr. A, Shaw Wright and Mr. S, C. Stanford urged that to avoid
delay voting should take place. On the matter being put to the
vote it was decided to vote at that meeting.
Mr. Shaw Wright proposed and Mr. I. Cohen seconded that
the annual subscription be increased. This was carried. It was
proposed by Mr. F. T. Hocking, seconded by Mr. V. Higham that the

| increase be ten shillings. An amendment by Mr. H. Parker, seconded
" by Mr. V. H. Coleman that the increase be five shillings was defeated.

In the case of “ family ” membership it was proposed by Mrs.
| Heath, seconded by Mr. J. D. Worsey that the subscription be

Increased to 15/-. This was defeated and the recommendation of
the Central Committee that it remain at 10/~ was agreed to. It
was agreed that members elected prior to 1940 should have the
option of continuing to pay one pound.

The suggestions that a booklet giving the ajims of the Club
be published and that a press officer be appointed were agreed to.
The suggestion that various sections, to study particular subjects
be set up, was left to the Central Committee. The suggestion that
members be invited to speak on items of interest for not longer
than five minutes at any meeting was agreed to and another, that
more information be given about places passed en rowle on field
meetings, was not agreed to. It was agreed to leave to the Central
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Committee the suggestion that more “ outside ™ lecturers be invited
to speak to the Club.

Mrs. F. Leeds was then installed as President. She said that
it was a great honour to be the first woman president and considered
it a compliment to the lady members elected during the past five
years. She thanked Dr. Langford for his services to the Club and
said that he had done a great deal of research for his presidential
address.

Wolverhampton Public Library was declared elected a member
of the Club.

Fierp MEETINGS

First FieLp MEETING, 30TH APRIL.

At Evesham, near to the Abbey tower, Mr. F. C. Morgan
spoke of the abbey and of Simon de Montfort. Wickhamford
church with its interesting monuments to the Sandys and
Washington family associations, Buckland church and the Manor
House gardens, and Sudeley castle, were visited in turn. At
Winchcombe a business meeting was held. An Inspector of the
Ministry of Works had visited portions of the city wall and was
satisfied with the standard of repair but he did not consider the
attitude of the City Council very helpful. The City Library com-
mittee’s donation of £25 to the Club’s funds was reported.

SEconp FIELD MEETING, 23RD May (Half-day).

The church at Kilpeck was the first place visited and explained
and later at Compston Hill the Hon. Secretary, Mr. Kendrick,
described the glaciation and its effects on river diversion. At a
business meeting held at New Llanthony, Mrs. H. L. D. O. Duck-
worth and Mr., Mrs. and Miss Barrett were declared elected member:
of the Clnb. The Venerable A, J. Winnington-Ingram gavea history
of the foundation of New Llanthony by Father Ignatius, and later
at Llanthony Abbey the ruins were described and a short account
of Walter Savage Landor, who once lived and owned the estate.
was given by Mr, Morgan.

Tuirp FieLD MEETING, 20TH JUNE.

Old Gwernyfed, Velindre, was visited by permission of Mrs.
Hore-Ruthven and at Porthamel! the old gate tower and barns were
examined. At Llangesty Talyllyn Miss B. Hone, Mr. J. R. Peebles,
Miss D. M. Murphy and Mrs. J. H. Langston were declared elected
members. At Llangorse Lake the botany and geology of the distric
were described by Mr. F. M. Kendrick, and at Brecon, the cathedral
was described by the Dean of Brecon.

——————
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ourRTH FIELD MEETING, 23RD JUry (Half-day).

Hereford city wall was described in the garden of the Cou

ealth office in Bridge Street where the beg;t remaining portriltg
Jnay be seen, and then part of the wall was followed as far as the
Jd'armers’ Club. At Coningsby Hospital, the history of the building
vas given by Mr. H. J, Harris ; the Booth Hall was described by
Mr. H. J. Powell (see pp. 206-209), and Dr. and Mrs. A. W. Lang-
Jord entertained the members to tea on the lawn of their residence
fterwards the Vicars’ Cloisters were visited and a short histor)}
of th_e buildings, etc., was given by Mr. Morgan. At a business
Aneeting the Rt. Hon. Lord Cilcennin, Col., Mrs. and Miss Heyes
nd Miss Hurst were declared elected.

F1rra FiIeLDp MEETING, 27TH AUGUST.

_ Berrington Hall, now the property of the National Trust
sited, and Lady Cawley kindly gave light refreshments. WX:
#utnel the tunnel of the derelict canal was seen and described by
4lr. 1. Cohen (see pp. 267-285), and at Shobdon the arches of the
old church and the architecture of the new one were examined.
r. Kendrick described the geology of the Aymestrey limestone
4 the large quarry there, and at Leintwardine the excavations of
Koman defences were described by Mr. S. C. Stanford. At a business
_geetmg Lady Jackson, Mr, and Mrs. L. S. Dodd, Miss M. Prosser
Dr. and Mrs. J. G. Hunt and Mr. A. L. Feaster were declared elected
members. At Stanton Lacy the Saxon church was visited,

XTH FIELD MEETING, 12TH SEPTEMEER.

Great Witley church was visited first, and at Chadd
s esl
rbett the church was described by the President, Mrs. F. Lee;g
arvington Hall was then seen and at a business meeting at Hartle-
3 Ilme(iommoré, (lzlhssdE.l M. (1;& Dunlop, the Rev. S. K. and Mrs.
were declared elected members., Mr. F. M. i
account of the local botany. ondrick gave

EST AUTUMN MEETING, 29TH OCTOBER.

The President, Mrs. F. Leeds, in the chair, for i
E(;él.ng when a'.ctention was called to the una.uth(;rised 2}:(2.?&?1’?3
MH'J;% Arthur’s cave, which had been brought to the notice of
_ ej‘ W_Stry of Works. The chair was then taken by the Vencrable
: it mnngton-Ingram for a “ Brains Trust ” the panel consisting
Mr. F, M. Kendrick, Mr. F. C. Morgan, Mr. S. C. Stanford, and

. C. i i
swereg,r' Walker, when many questions on local subjects were
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SECOND AUTUMN MEETING, 7TH NOVEMBEER.

The President, Mrs. F. Leeds in the chair. Mr. A. Rees Davie
Miss Okell, Mrs. Field, Wing Commander R. D. I. Scott, Mr. ar
Mrs. W. ]J. Cottle, Mr. and Mrs, F. R. C. Hermon and Mr. A. ¥
Lewis were declared elected members, Dr. E. Moir gave a lectu
on “ Local history " outlining the sources of material for the stud
of this subject.

THIRD AUTUMN MEETING, 19TH NOVEMEER.

The President, Mrs. F. Leeds, in the chair. A lantern lectu
on some of the valuable collection of seals! in the cathedral libra
was given by Mr. F. C. Morgan, followed by a talk by Miss !
Jancey on the Herefordshire county records.

FourtH AUTUMN MEETING, 17TH DECEMBER.

The President, Mrs. F. Leeds, in the chair. Mr. and M
Page, Mr. and Mrs. R. P. L. Britton were declared elected membe
Owing to the absence through illness of Mr. I. Cohen, Mr. F. |
Kendrick described a fine series of coloured slides taken by !
Cohen, illustrating the course of the Wye from its source to
mouth with notes on the geological features.

ANNUAL AUTUMN MEETING, 3RD DECEMBER.

The President, Mrs. F. Leeds, in the chair, The result of
questionnaire concerning suggested activities of the club was r¢
by the Hon. Secretary, Mr. F. M. Kendrick.

The following officers for 1960 were elected :

President ©: The Rev. D. A. L. Maclean ; Vice-Presiden
Mrs. F. Leeds, Dr. A. W. Langford, Prebendary A. L. Moir, ¥
S. C. Stanford ; Hon. Secretary : Mr. F. M. Kendrick ; H
Treasurer - Mr. P. A. B. Elkin ; Hon. Librarian : Mr. F. C. Morg
Central Committee : Miss M. Jancey, Mr. H. E. Pile, the Venera
A. J. Winnington-Ingram, Dr. David Smyth; Editorial Co
mitfee : Mr. 1. Cohen, Mr. W. H. Howse, Prebendary A. L. M
the Venerable A. J. Winnington-Ingram, Mr. S. C. Stanford,
F.C. Morgan ; Sectional Editors : Archzology : Mr. S.C. Stanfo

Botany and Geology : Mr. F. M. Kendrick ; Lepidoptera : I
Dr. C. W. Walk

Rev. R. B. Sisson ; Mammals and Omithology : i
Press Representatives: Mrs. M. U. Jomes, Mr. H. E. !
Mr. Kendrick. .

Mr. S. C. Stanford reported on the work of the Commt
concerning proposed excavations at Croit Ambrey, and on excd
tions at Buckton Roman fort (see pp. 210-218).

! See note on p. 238.

Woolbope Raturalists’ Field Club

(HEREFORDSHIRE)

PROCEEDINGS, 1960

THE FIRST MEETING WAS HELD ON 9TH JAN .
President, Mrs. Leeds, in the chair. Janr. the
 The following were declared elected members of the Club :
Miss Morling, Clairville House, Ross-on-Wye, Miss Hancock
Ileeve Lane, Ross-on-Wye. ’
The Rev. Preb., A. L. Moir, M.A., F.R.Hist.S,, gave a talk
on Landscape Gardening. He traced the history of landscape
gaidens and referred particularly to those of the 18th century.
Many old prints were on exhibition,
T}le President spoke of the death of Mr. I. Cohen, and members
;toféjzl)n silence. Mr. F. C. Morgan paid a tribute to him (see obituary,

THE SECOND MEETING WAS ON 21ST JANUARY. i
Mrs. Leeds, in the chair. I ¥ The President,

Declared elected members of the Club were: Miss 1. M.
Tattershall and Miss M. Hodgson, both of Forest Gate, Callow,
Mrs. C. J. Price, The Garth, Kingsland, Miss U. Palairet, Yew
I1ee Cottage, Westhill, Ledbury.

Mr. J. F. L. Norwood gave a short paper entitled * Recon-

structing the Past ”, referring particularly to repairing artifacts
nd displaying them.
. Mr. F. G. Heys, M.A,, read an interim report on the excava-
'lons on the medieval moated site at Breinton Camp, and a paper
['ﬂ The Newent Coalfield " was read by Mr. F. M. Kendrick.
he coalfield was abandoned owing to the poor quality of the coal
uid the large quantities of water encountered.

L THE Tuirp MEETING was cancelled owing to Dr. Kathleen
enyon not being able to attend.

THE FourTH MEETING WAS HELD oN 25TH FE
Pl‘eSlﬁ?nt, Mis, Leeds, in the chair. sRoARY. The
ss G. Hamilton, Hillston, Bank Crescent, Ledb d
Mr. Miles Hadfield, 39 Hamstead Hill, Birmi han uryecla.r' e
, , Birmingham, were d
lected members of the Club. v .
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Mr. S. C. Stanford paid tribute to the late Mr. I. Cohen and then
gave a report on Archwzology for 1959 (see pp. 242-244).

Mr. ¥. M. Kendrick reported on Botany and Geology for the
same period (see pp. 247-248).

Dr. C. W. Walker reported on Mammals, Reptiles and Orni-
thology for 1959 (see pp. 249-230).

Mr. J. F. L. Norwood exhibited spiders taken from bunches
of bananas. He stated that a builder’s excavation on the site of the
old Residence Hotel confirmed the line of the King’s Ditch.

Tue F1FTH MEETING WAS HELD ON 5TH MarcH. Mr. V. Higham,
in the chair owing to the absence of the President through illness.

Mr. S. C. Standord, B.A., read a paper entitled “* The Leint-
wardine Excavations ”’, which he claimed, had the whole concept
of the state of the March of Wales during the Roman occupation.
(See pp. 87-99.)

TeE S1xTH MEETING WAS HELD ON 30TH MarcH. The Rev.
Preb. A. L. Moir, in the chair owing to the absence of the President
through bereavement.

Members stood in silence in memory of Mr. F. Leeds.

The following were declared elected members of the Club :
Mrs. A. M. B. Swanston, Hillstow, Bank Crescent, Ledbury, Mr.
and Mrs. C. Sandford, Eye Manor, Miss Dorothy Harrison, The
School House, Aymestiey, Mr. W. Hadyn Thomas, Hightree,
Leintwardine, Mrs. E. F. Pugh, Hawkersland House, Marden,
Mr. and Mrs. Wibberley, Midland Bank, Hereford, Miss J. Yorke
and Mis. G. Yorke, Llanryton, Cawdor, Ross-on-Wye.

Mr. Nicholas Thomas, M.A., F.S.A., described the *“ Excava-
tions at Dane’s Camp Hill Fort, Bredon Hill, 1958-59 ', illustrated
by slides of air and ground photographs and plans. He gave a
graphic account of life in this fortified Iron Age village as revealed
by excavation.

SPRING ANNUAL MEETING WAS HELD ON 21ST ApriL. The
President, Mrs, Leeds, took the chair.

Mrs. M. U. Jones gave a short interim report on Castle Green
excavations. The wall foundations of the church and several
burials had been found, but floor levels had been destioyed.

The following were declared elected members of the Club :
Miss Winefred Guest and Miss Nancy Guest, Hilltop, Dilwyn,
Rev. H. P. Absalom, Lucton Vicarage, Leominster.

The Hon. Secretary, Mr. F. M. Kendrick, reported on the
Field Meetings of 1959, which had been favoured with exceptionally
fine weather.
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The Hon. Treasurer in place of his usual report, sent a note
saying that the balance on hand on 31st December, 1959, was
approximately £600.

The Asst. Secretary reported that the membership at the end
of 1958 stood at 491. New members in 1939 totalled 56 of which
30 were ladies, 25 gentlemen, one library and one member rejoined.
The loss in membership in the same period was 25. Six members
died, 13 1esigned, three were struck off and three left the district.
Membership at the end of 1959 was therefore 523.

The Hon. Librarian, Mr. F. C. Morgan, reported that 79 books
had been borrowed in 1959. Some had been kept out too long.
He proposed making a re-arrangement when time permitted.

Mrs, Leeds gave her Presidential Address, the subject of which
was the further history of the postal services (see pp. 271-279).
The Rev. D. A. L. Maclean of Dochgarroch, was then installed as
President, who said that his first duty was to compliment Mrs.
Leeds on the way she, as first lady President, had carried out her
duties during her year of office. Mrs. Leeds thanked all who had
assisted her during that time.

On exhibition was a small tombstone from Clodock church,
the inscription on which had been translated by Mr. Ralegh
Radford (see pp. 239).

For the second half-day field meeting it was decided to visit
the Ross Spur motorway on 16th July.

To fill the vacancy on the Central Committee, Mr. W. T. Jones
was appointed.

F1eLp MEETINGS

ApprrioNal HALF-Day FIELD MEETING HELD oN 30TH APRIL.

Stoke Edith church was visited and was described by The
Venerable A. J. Winnington-Ingram, who also gave an account of
the Foley family, with which he is connected. The Rev. D. A. L.
Maclean explained how the history of the family was shown on
the coats of arms in the church. Miss Jancey spoke of a volume of
plans of cottages and other buildings on the estate made by Wilkins
in 1792, This volume, the handsome church plate of 1743, and the
registers were on view., The site of the demolished mansion was
visited, by permission of Mrs. Foley and Mr. A. T. Foley.

Declared elected members of the Club were : Miss Elizabeth
Alison, Glannant, Clodock, Mr. and Mrs. J. Stephens, Flat 4, 14
Aylestone Hill, Hereford, Mr., Mrs. & Miss Hone, National
Provincial Bank, Ledbury, and Mr. W. H. Bishop, Parks Super-
intendant, Harrogate.
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FirsTt FIELD MEETING WAS HELD ON 14TH MAy.

The church of North Cerney was first visited, the manticores
on the outside being seen. It was described by the rector, the Rev.
Arthur J. Turner. Chedworth Roman villa was next visited and
then the Corinium museum in Cirencester. At the business meeting
the following were declared elected members of the Club: Mrs.
King-King, Deerfold House, Lingen, Mr. and Mrs. Yelloly, Silia,
Presteigne, M1. and Mrs. A. L. Davies, Stansbatch House, Staunton-
on-Arrow. Mr, V, Higham said that John Buchan used Chedworth
villa as the scene of one of his novels.

Seconp FiELp MEETING (HALF-DAY) WAS HELD ON 2ND
JUNE.

En route to Garway, a stop was made at Cole’s Tump to admire
extensive views. At Garway, the Rev. Preb. A. L. Moir described
the church, which had at one time belonged to the Knights Templar.
The dovecote also was seen. Pembiidge Castle was next visited
by permission of the owner, Mr. Cook., The President spoke on it-
history and members were able to see the careful restoration carried
out by Dr. Hedley Bartlett, the previous owner, who was a bishop
of the Greek church, a barrister and medical doctor and whose ashes
and those of his wife are buried in the chapel.

At the business meeting the following were declared elected
members of the Club : Miss Catterns, 20 Lichfield Avenue, Hereford.
Rev. J. Victor, Well Cottage, Quay Street, Hereford, Miss D. V
Dunk, 132 Three Elms Road, Hereford.

THirD FIELD MEETING (PRESIDENT'S DAy} wAS HELD oN 30T1H
JunE, 1960.

The first stop was at a Bunter sandstone exposure near Broms-
berrow, where Mr. F. M. Kendrick spoke on the geology of the
region. After crossing the temporary Bailey bridge at Haw Bridge
over the Severn, the party reached Deerhurst. The Saxon church of
St. Mary the Virgin was visited and was described by the Rev. Hugh
Maclean, the President’s brother. Odda’s Chapel was also visited.
The next stop was at the moated Birtsmorton Court. At Tewkesbury
Abbey, the vicar gave its history and the President pointed out
various coats of arms. Declared elected member of the Club was
Capt. W. Ashby, Sellarsbrook House, Ganarew.

FourTH FIELD MEETING (HALF-DAY) WAS HELD ON 16TH
Jury.

At the office of the Resident Engineer of the Ross Spur motor-
way at Over Ross, a model of the Bridstow bridg